Ethanol and adult CNS neurodamage: oxidative stress, but possibly not excitotoxicity

Michael A. Collins¹, Edward J. Neafsey¹

¹Department of Molecular Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Loyola University Chicago, Stritch School of Medicine, Maywood IL 60153

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Brain oxidative stress due to chronic ethanol
 - 3.1. Essentials of brain oxidative stress related to ethanol
 - 3.2. Chronic ethanol and brain oxidative stress in vivo
 - 3.3. Oxidative stress relationships to withdrawal and neurodegeneration
- 4. Evaluations of excitotoxicity in ethanol-induced neurodamage
 - 4.1. Neurodegeneration due to binge ethanol: the model(s) and evidence against excitotoxicity
 - 4.2. Possible excitotoxicity in other chronic ethanol models
- 5. Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration in ethanol binge intoxication: nonexcitotoxic neuroinflammation
- 6. Perspective

7. Acknowledgements

8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Evidence from experiments with adult rodents chronically treated with ethanol *via* either repetitive binges or continuous intake/exposure supports the occurrence of brain oxidative stress and, at least in binge intoxication/rat models, its essential causative role in neurodamage. However, pharmacological antagonism experiments reveal that N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-dependent excitotoxicity is not responsible for adult mammalian brain neurodegeneration caused by repetitive binge ethanol intoxication and withdrawals. Since NMDA receptor antagonists apparently are untested with respect to neuronal death/loss in continuous intake/ingestion rodent models, e.g., ethanol/water or ethanol/liquid diets, it is therefore erroneous to assert, as is often done, that excitotoxicity is important mechanism for ethanol-induced adult an mammalian brain (neuronal) damage. Alternatively, results from several laboratories indicate that neurodegeneration due to chronic binge ethanol exposure/withdrawal may be dependent on redox transcription factor signaling and neuroinflammatory/oxidative stress pathways (increased arachidonic acid mobilization and pro-inflammatory decreased anti-inflammatory cvtokines: cytokines) downstream of microglial/astroglial activation and moderate yet significant brain edema.

2. INTRODUCTION

Excitotoxicity is characterized by calcium overload and oxidative stress that are principally related to glutamate-dependent overstimulation of the extrasynaptic (as opposed to synaptic) N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor(s) (NMDAR) (1). It is considered a fundamental mechanism of neurodegeneration in the widespread acquired brain damage circumstances of stroke and traumatic injury (1, 2). Excitotoxic mechanisms also are apparently important in neurodamage arising from micronutrient deficiencies (3) and environmental neurotoxins (e.g., pesticides, organometallics) (4). Within the domain of chronic neurodegenerative diseases, excitotoxicity has been linked to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, amylotropic lateral sclerosis, and multiple sclerosis (5). In the many *in vivo* investigations of acquired brain damage during the past three decades, the sine qua non for excitotoxicity has been neuroprotection via pharmacological antagonism of NMDAR.

An explicit mechanism for chronic ethanoldependent neurodegeneration in the mature brain has been elusive, but oxidative stress is a likely key component. Largely based on *in vitro* reports, excitotoxicity has been assumed to be upstream of (and responsible for) oxidative stress and neurodamage in vivo in adults. This article reviews adult rodent models of chronic ethanol exposure or intoxication for which there is evidence for or indications of brain oxidative stress. It further considers the (lack of) experimental evidence for excitotoxicity as a critical mechanism to explain incipient oxidative stress and related pathways leading to neurodegeneration in chronic ethanol exposure models. Finally, it argues that non-excitotoxic neuroinflammatory mechanisms related to glial activation, brain edema, redox alterations and possibly pro-inflammatory cytokines may be central to the neurodegeneration, at least with (sub)chronic binge intoxication models. It is important to emphasize that ethanol-induced brain injury, sometimes with malnutrition, reasonably underlies alcoholic dementia, which in some situations is nearly as prevalent as vascular (ischemic) dementia (6). A clearer understanding of ethanol's brain damage pathways could stimulate translational approaches to minimizing the progression to dementia associated with chronic alcoholism.

3. OXIDATIVE STRESS IN RODENT BRAIN DUE TO CHRONIC ETHANOL EXPOSURE

3.1. Essentials of brain oxidative stress related to ethanol

Brain oxidative stress consists of an imbalance of cellular reactive oxygen species (ROS, e.g., superoxide, hydroxyl radical, hydrogen peroxide, lipid peroxides) and perhaps reactive nitrogen species (RNS such as nitric oxide and derived peroxynitric acid) that can initiate macromolecular (per)oxidation and fragmentation, mitochondrial damage, and neurocellular degeneration. Considering ethanol, excitotoxic NMDAR overstimulation is but one of multiple sources for excessive oxidative stress. Other sources include (but are not limited to) mitochondria, which could "leak" ROS due to damage by ethanol or its metabolites; NADPH oxidase (NOX), which is highly localized in glial cells and can be activated by ethanol (7); a multitude of oxidative/peroxidative/epoxidative routes for membrane polyunsaturated fatty acids (especially arachidonic acid or AA) released from phospholipids by ethanol-potentiated phospholipase A2 (PLA2) activity (8); ethanol-dependent induction of monoamine oxidases (9) and possibly other amine oxidases that produce hydrogen peroxide; and oxidation of ethanol by cytochrome P450 2E1 (producing not only ROS but hydroxyethyl radicals as well), catalase, and various (per)oxidases. Additionally, not to be overlooked is reduced/impaired removal of ROS/RNS, should chronic ethanol exposure directly or indirectly cause depletion/inhibition of endogenous antioxidants, scavengers, and/or antioxidant enzyme systems. On this point, extracellular glutamate (at times shown to be released/elevated by ethanol (10)) can cause oxidative stress in a non-receptor manner with certain neuronal cell lines by blocking cystine transporters and interfering with glutathione synthesis (termed oxidative glutamate toxicity) (11), but this pathway's role in vivo is relatively unproven.

3.2. Chronic ethanol and brain oxidative stress in vivo

There is a robust literature indicating that chronic or sustained ethanol exposure can increase oxidative stress

in many organs of adult animals (12). Brain oxidative stress changes and possible mechanisms due to ethanol were reviewed a decade ago (13). Here we summarize those with an exclusive in vivo focus and find there is a plethora of experimental reports since 1980 that examine the evidence for brain oxidative stress in chronic ethanol-exposed adult rats and mice (Table 1). These studies establish that, despite differing levels and types of ethanol exposures from as short as 2 weeks to as long as 18 months, and assays in whole brain or specific brain regions with different rodent models of presumably differing adult ages (where stated) for a variety of known indicators/markers, oxidative stress is a consistent result or consequence. (A few early analyses with rodents given chronic ethanol were negative, possibly because oxidative changes were possibly obscured by whole brain assays (14, 15)). The most common model has been male rats, although in several instances females were used, and a few studies used male and female mice. With one exception, chronic ethanol administration or exposure was either of two protocols: continuous intake (in water or liquid diets), or repetitive (usually daily) "binging" via intraperitoneal or intragastric routes. Maximum blood ethanol levels (BELs) in continuous intake typically would not exceed 25-30 mM, but in the binge model could range from 70 to 100 mM, depending on the g/kg dose administered. The exception to these exposure routes in Table 1 was an ethanol inhalation model, discussed further below, which achieved relatively high BELs.

The most common oxidative stress assessments in Table 1 relied primarily on indirect markers or indicatorse.g., changes in antioxidant systems such as glutathione (GSH), its synthesizing enzymes (16), and oxidized GSSG, and increases in end-products of lipid peroxidation such as malondialdehyde (usually measured by the thiobarbituric acid reacting substances [TBARS] method, but sometimes more specifically by HPLC); however, in the initial studies by the Portuguese laboratories, regional lipofuscin accumulation (17, 18), or of oxidized proteins (protein carbonyls, PCO) indicated oxidative stress. Measured in some studies were alterations. usually increases, in redox-associated or oxidative stressgenerating enzymes such as cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP450 2E1), superoxide dismutase (SOD), nitric oxide synthase (NOS), cyclooxygenase-2 (inducible COX, which converts AA to proinflammatory prostaglandin precursors) and NOX; decreases in glutamine synthetase (GluS, an astroglial enzyme exquisitely sensitive to ROS damage) also have been measured. However, more direct measurements of ROS were done in several of the ethanol studies, e.g., brain superoxide (19), or hydroxyl radicals after trapping with salicylate (20). It is notable that in a number of the studies (Table 1), administration of an antioxidant, a dietary polyphenolic flavonoid, a specific amino acid or a neuroprotective steroid was effective in reducing or preventing the changes in brain oxidative stress, providing further evidence for a "hyper-oxidative" link to ethanol exposure or its withdrawal.

3.3. Oxidative stress relationships to withdrawal and neurodegeneration

The issue of the importance of the ethanol withdrawal phase to increased oxidative stress was the

EtOH Exposure Model	Evidence/indicator(s) of oxidative stress	Reference
Male SD rats; ~6% EtOH/liquid diet for 4-14 weeks	Brain GSH depletion; increased GSH-synthesizing enzymes during EtOH intake and WD	(16)
Male SD rats; 20% EtOH/H ₂ O intake <i>ad libitum</i> for 1-18 nonths	Increased cerebellar lipofuscin (lipid peroxidation end-product)	(17)
Male SD rats; 20% EtOH/H ₂ O intake <i>ad libitum</i> for 1-18 months	Increased hippocampal lipofuscin deposition	(18)
Male SD rats; 20% EtOH/H ₂ O intake <i>ad libitum</i> for 6-12 months	Increased cerebellar and hippocampal lipofuscin; blocked by piracetam, a nootropic and possible antioxidant	(63)
Female (intact) Wistar rats; EtOH/liquid diet for 8 weeks	Decreased brain GSH/GSSG, increased microsomal CYP450 2E1	(64)
Male SD rats; 5-7% EtOH/liquid diet for 14 days	Decreased brain GSH and SOD; not prevented by MK801 co- treatment	(32)
Male Wistar rats; 5% EtOH/liquid diet for 40 days	Increased brain lipid peroxidation products and nuclear DNA breaks	(65)
Male SD rats; 10% EtOH/H ₂ O intake <i>ad libitum</i> for 4-8 weeks	Increased cerebellar GSH-S-transferase and reduced vitamin E content	(66)
Male SD rats; EtOH vapor chamber (>300 mg/dl BELs)	Increased brain hydroxyl radicals and PCO, decreased GluS; correlations with WD seizures	(20)
Male Wistar rats; 9.7 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 1x daily for 1 month (?)	Increased brain TBARS, decreased brain GSH; Prevented by curcumin	(67)
Male Wistar rats: 6% EtOH/liquid diet for 20 months	Decreased GSH/GSSG and GSHR, increased ROS-induced brain luminescence; prevention by NAC	(68)
Male SD rats, 5% EtOH/liquid diet for 2 months	Increased dentate granule cell COX2 expression; amelioration by grape polyphenol administration	(69)
Male Wistar rats; 10-35% EtOH/H ₂ O intake <i>ad libitum</i> for 20 days	Decreased cerebral GSH; increased TBARS; partial prevention by vitamin E supplementation	(70)
Male laka mice; 2 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 1x daily for 24 days	Increased forebrain TBARS, decreased GSH, SOD and catalase; normalized by free radical scavenger, quercetin	(71)
Male Wistar rats; 3g/kg i.g. EtOH 2x daily for 28 days	Increased brain TBARS and LHP; protection by taurine administration	(72)
Female Wistar rats; 5% EtOH/liquid diet for 5 months	Increased cortical iNOS and COX2 expression	(73)
Female (ovx) SD rats; 7.5% EtOH/liquid diet for 5 weeks	Elevated cerebellar and hippocampal TBARS during EtOH withdrawal; prevented by estradiol	(74)
Male Wistar rats; 20% EtOH/H ₂ O ad libitum for 6 months	Increased hippocampal and cerebellar lipofuscin; prevented by grape seed flavonoids	(75)
Male Wistar rats; 2g/kg/d i.p. EtOH 1x daily for 45 days	Increased regional MDA and 4-hydroxyalkenols; prevented by melatonin co-treatment	(76)
Male Wistar rats; 5% EtOH/liquid diet for 4 weeks	Decreased brain antioxidant enzymes; increased LPO indicators; partial protection by green tea supplementation	(77)
Male SD rats; EtOH/liquid diet for 21-28 weeks (av. ~12 g/kg/d EtOH intake)	Microarray study: increased expression of oxidative stress-related genes in nucleus tractus solitarius	(78)
Male Wistar rats; 2.5g/kg i.g. EtOH 1x on alternate days for 90 days	Increased regional PCO, decreased GSH; partially prevented by antioxidant suppl. mixture	(79)
Male Wistar rats; 3g/kg/d i. p. EtOH 1x daily for 6 weeks	Increased brain TBARS; prevention by resveratrol supplementation	(80)
Male Long-Evans rats; <10% EtOH/ liquid diet for 9 weeks	Increased regional brain NOX expression; increased LPO, HNE and DNA damage	(23)
Male SD rats; 6.4% EtOH/liquid diet for 18-22 days	Increased hippocampal TBARS, decreased GSH; prevented by ebselen antioxidant	(81)
Male Balb/C mice; 8% EtOH/H ₂ O <i>ad libitum</i> for 15 days	Increased brain GSSG/GSH, TBARS, catalase; prevented by vitamin E supplementation	(82)
Male Wistar rats; 6g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 2x daily for 45 days	Increased TBARS and LHP; increased GSSG/GSH; prevention by high PUFA/PL soybean extract	(22)
Male SD rats; 6.5% EtOH/liquid diet for 5 weeks	Increased brain regional superoxide and PCO; partial prevention by intermittent hypoxia	(19)
Male Wistar rats; 10 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 1x daily for 10 weeks	Increased cortical & hippocampal nitrite, TBARS, and lipid peroxides, reduced SOD activity and GSH; all largely prevented by vitamin E and tocotrienol	(83)
	Increased brain MDA and PCO; prevention by carnosine	(84)
Male Wistar rats; 2g/kg/d i.p. EtOH 1x daily for 14 days	administration	(0.1)
Male Wistar rats; 2g/kg/d i.p. EtOH 1x daily for 14 days Female C57/BI mice; 10% EtOH/H ₂ O <i>ad libitum</i> for 5 months		(85)

Table 1. Brain oxidative stress due to chronic ethanol (EtOH) in adult rodents

Abbreviations: SD, Sprague Dawley; i.g., intragastric; DNQX, AMPA/kainate receptor antagonist; COX2, cyclooxygenase-2; ERC, entorhinal cortical; DGC, dentate granule cell; GSHR, glutathione reductase; HNE, 4-hydroxynonenal; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; LHP, lipid hydroperoxides; nNOS, neuronal nitric oxide synthase; NAC, N-acetylcysteine; NFkB, nuclear factor kappa beta; BHT, butylated hydroxytoluene; PCO, protein carbonyls; BB, blueberry extract; TGF-β, transforming growth factor-β

main intent of some of the studies (Table 1). Vallett *et al.* (20), using a vapor phase model, argued that chronic ethanol inhalation would produce a more reliable model of

dependence (withdrawal seizures) than other models. Some of their oxidative stress measures were significantly higher early after withdrawal from ethanol vapor, and others some

Table 2. Binge ethanol (EtOH) exposure and neurodegeneration in adult rats: protection studies with receptor/channel antagonists/agonists, antioxidants, or diuretics

EtOH Exposure Model	Evidence For or Against Neuroprotection	Reference
Male SD; 6-12 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 3x daily for 4 days	MK801 did not protect against ERC neurodegeneration	(35)
Male SD; 6.5-12 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 3x daily in liquid nutrient for 4 days	iNOS and nNOS inhibitors failed to prevent ERC & DGC neurodegeneration	(39)
Male SD; ~9 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 3x daily in liquid nutrient for 4 days	MK-801, DNQX or nimodipine did not reduce ERC & DGC neurodegeneration	(38)
Male SD; ~5g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 1x daily for 7-8 days	MK-801 did not prevent ERC & DGC neurodegeneration; neuroprotection by furosemide diuretic/antioxidant	(40)
Male SD; 9-12 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 3x daily for 4 days	MK-801, memantine or nimodipine were not neuroprotective in ERC & DGC; antioxidants cannabidiol, BHT, vitamin E and furosemide were neuroprotective	(41)
Male SD; 8-12 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 3x daily in liquid nutrient for 4 days	BHT antioxidant prevented elevations in oxidative stress indicators (NFkB; COX2) and ERC & DGC neurodamage; ebselen, vitamin E and BB did not neuroprotect	(49)
Male SD; 3.5-6.5 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 1x daily in liquid nutrient for 8 days	Acetazolamide (diuretic and aquaporin-4 inhibitor) protected against ERC & DGC neurodamage	(51)
Male Wistar; 8-12 g/kg/d i.g. EtOH 3x daily in 6% sucrose/14.7% milk powder for 4 days	Metabotropic GluR II agonist reduced ERC neurodegeneration, concomitant with preventing deficits in TGF-β and cognition	(60)

Abbreviations: SD, Sprague Dawley; i.g., intragastric; DNQX, AMPA/kainate receptor antagonist; COX2, cyclooxygenase-2; ERC, entorhinal cortical; DGC, dentate granule cell; GSHR, glutathione reductase; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; nNOS, neuronal nitric oxide synthase; NAC, N-acetylcysteine; NFkB, nuclear factor kappa beta; BHT, butylated hydroxytoluene; BB, blueberry extract; TGF- β , transforming growth factor- β

12-24 hr following exposure, lending support to their hypothesis that there are multiple components or sources of [increased] oxidative stress which "peak and decline at different time points and potentially interact with one another" (20). Jung and coworkers, utilizing an ethanol/liquid diet for 5 weeks, also showed increased brain oxidative stress in adult rats that was further increased during withdrawal (19). These findings with two different models can be contrasted with the subchronic binge ethanol intoxication model (discussed below), where neurodamage in several brain regions was highest within ~8 hrs after the last repetitive ethanol dose rather than at longer withdrawal times, when seizures are believed to be of highest intensity.

Most of the studies in Table 1 acknowledged the probable importance of oxidative stress induction to neurodegeneration, but few specifically measured or assessed brain neuronal damage or loss due to ethanol, nor the effect of antioxidants on neurodegeneration. However, recently Rump et al. (21) used immunocytochemistry to striatal show that (dopaminergic and cholinergic) neurons were reduced by chronic ethanol ingestion, and that acetyl-Lcarnitine, a pleiotropic antioxidant, blocked the reductions. Also, indications of brain damage were evident in several other oxidative stress reports-Javaraman et al. (22) noted regional brain weight losses that likely reflect ethanol-dependent brain tissue atrophy in concert with increased oxidative stress, with both being normalized by administration of putatively neuroprotective soybean phosphatidylcholine extract; also, increased DNA damage was assumed by Cohen et al. (23) to reflect brain damage. In these instances the in vivo changes could reflect loss/damage of glia as well as neurons. It is also likely that brain glia are among the key sources of ethanol-induced ROS or RNS, especially with respect to cellular NADPH oxidase (NOX) (24).

4. EVALUATIONS OF EXCITOTOXICITY IN ETHANOL-INDUCED NEURODAMAGE

Excitotoxicity has been often invoked as a mechanism responsible for the brain oxidative stress and neurodegeneration in chronic ethanol-exposed rodents as well as in alcoholics (25-27). The possibility seems to from findings with ethanol-exposed follow fetal/adolescent brain slice cultures indicating that excitotoxic antagonists can be neuroprotective (28, 29), from data showing increased extracellular glutamate or other NMDAR agonists in certain ethanol experiments (for review see (10)), and from neurobehavioral or receptor density studies with ethanol in vivo and in vitro (30, 31). However, unlike stroke, trauma and other acquired brain injuries, available pharmacological antagonist studies of ethanol-induced neurodegeneration with adult rats (Table 2) provide substantive evidence against the key involvement of excitotoxicity, at least with subchronic/chronic binge intoxication. NMDAR also may not be a significant source of brain oxidative stress in adult rats ingesting ethanol in liquid diets, based on the results of Bondy & Guo (32) in which an NMDAR antagonist failed to alter the depletion of brain GSH and SOD.

4.1. Neurodegeneration due to binge ethanol: the model(s) and evidence against excitotoxicity

Specifically addressing excitotoxicity's role in neurodamage (Table 2), several reports to date describe unsuccessful attempts to reduce or block chronic ethanolinduced brain neurodegeneration with glutamatergic receptor antagonists, calcium channel blockers, or nitric oxide synthase inhibitors. The last two pharmacological approaches are based on the mechanistic links between excitotoxicity, neuronal calcium channel opening, and excessive nitric oxide generation (1, 2). Unlike brain oxidative stress studies (Table 1) that encompass a range of chronic ethanol exposure models, neurodegeneration studies (Table 2) have been restricted to a repetitive binge intragastric (i.g.) approach with male adult rats. This model originated from withdrawal symptom (seizures) studies with rats intubated 3-4 times daily with ethanol (8-12 g/kg/d) over a 4-day interval—the so-called Majchrowicz technique (33). A subsequent abstract from that NIH laboratory summarized that the binge treatment caused surprisingly regionalized neuronal death in regions of the temporal cortex (esp. layer 3 entorhinal cortical [ERC] neurons) and hippocampal dentate granule cells (DGC), as determined with sensitive deOlmos cupric-silver neurodegeneration staining (34).

As we indicated in an initial abstract (35), our exploratory experiments investigating excitotoxicity's role with the above binge ethanol/ rat model found that cotreatment with MK-801 (dizocilpine, a potent noncompetitive NMDAR antagonist) failed to prevent ERC neurodamage. Modifying the binge intoxication protocol with nutritional supplement and subcutaneous intragastric cannulae, we pursued studies with the model and reported that, in addition to prominent ERC pyramidal neuron and DGC damage, neurodegeneration was apparent in olfactory bulb glomeruli neurons along with associated olfactory (piriform and perirhinal) cortical pyramidal cells (36); accordingly, the suggestion was that brain damage of this nature in chronic alcoholics might explain reported olfactory deficits, in addition to aspects of dementia/cognitive decline (e.g., hippocampus and entorhinal cortex are critical regions for memory function). Indeed, later studies from the Crews laboratory demonstrated learning and memory impairments with this rat binge intoxication model (37). Our findings further indicated that the amount of neurodegeneration peaked as early as ~8 hr after the last binge ethanol treatment rather than later at 24-36 hr, when induction of withdrawal seizures is maximal (33). This places into question an oft-stated assumption that (full-blown) withdrawal after chronic ethanol is a requirement for extensive neurodegeneration. Also, it was noted that the apparent absence of degenerating neurons in the hippocampal CA1-CA3 regions (36), normally very susceptible to NMDAR-mediated insult, was inconsistent with excitotoxicity being a significant mechanism.

In further pharmacological assessments of possible excitotoxicity-associated mechanisms, we found that, in addition to MK-801, the agents DNQX, an antagonist of glutamatergic AMPA/kainic acid receptors as well as the NMDAR glycine co-agonist site, and nimodipine, a neuronal calcium channel blocker, lacked neuroprotective effects against binge ethanol-induced ERC and DGC degeneration (38). Also, two NO synthase (NOS) inhibitors were administered during the binge intoxication protocol (39): nitroarginine methyl ester, a general NOS inhibitor, which was delivered icv via minipump (its peripheral co-administration with binge ethanol was found to cause ~100% mortality), and 7-nitroindazole, a relatively specific inhibitor of neuronal NOS in vivo, given intraperitoneally. In these experiments neither inhibitor was neuroprotective; in fact, NOS inhibition significantly worsened the binge ethanol-induced neurodamage in one or more brain regions. Additionally, histochemical localization of NOS (as NADPH diaphorase) did not coincide with areas of neurodegeneration. In later experiments, we modified the gavage intoxication protocol to ~5 g/kg ethanol once daily for 7-8 days and found that ERC and DGC degeneration induced by this modification likewise was not prevented by MK-801 administration (40). Importantly, the NIH laboratory of Eskay and coworkers also examined the possibility of excitotoxicity with the Majchrowicz 4-day repetitive binge ethanol technique, modified with nutritional supplement and intragastric cannulae (41). Their results confirmed findings with MK-801 and further showed that concurrent treatment with memantine, an uncompetitive NMDAR antagonist with therapeutic applications (42), did not significantly protect against ethanol-induced ERC and DGC neurodegeneration.

4.2. Possible excitotoxicity in other chronic ethanol models

It is still plausible that excitotoxicity is an important pathway leading to neurodegeneration in adult rodent models during/after long-term ethanol ingestion (water or liquid nutrient), in which the repetitively high BELs from i.g. or i.p. binge administration and the sharp contrast of relatively abrupt withdrawals are absent. There are supportive indications; for example, memantine prevented the robust neurobehavioral deficits in adult rats withdrawn from 6 wks of 20% ethanol intake in water (43). Furthermore, upregulation of hippocampal and cortical NMDAR subunits comcomitant with increased apoptosis was observed in adult rats after 12 weeks of 10% ethanol ingestion (44). In contrast, brain NMDAR subunit upregulation, as indicated by labeled antagonist binding, is negligible in the Majchrowicz binge ethanol model (45), and, as indicated above, NMDAR antagonists are ineffective neuroprotectants. Furthermore, reiterating an earlier point, NMDAR antagonism did not prevent the apparent brain oxidative stress in adult rats during chronic ethanol/liquid diet intake (32), so the significance of ethanol-induced excitotoxicity in any adult mammalian model remains a question.

However, after chronic ethanol exposure in a nonmammalian model such as adult drosophila, excitotoxicity as well as apoptosis both appear to be significant (46). This bears upon a further possible difference between chronic intake and binge intoxication in mammalian models, in that the apoptotic mode of cell death for brain neurons appears minimal in the adult rat binge intoxication model (47). It is possible this represents an acknowledged dose dependency of toxicantinduced cell death modes (48), for which, with some toxicants, low dose (and with ethanol, extended duration) exposure could promote apoptosis, whereas higher concentrations (combined with repetitive withdrawals in ethanol's case) might cause mainly necrosis. Clearly, further studies are needed to clarify this basic issue.

5. OXIDATIVE STRESS AND NEURODEGENERATION IN ETHANOL BINGE INTOXICATION: NONEXCITOTOXIC NEUROINFLAMMATION

In addition to confirming our laboratories' findings of an apparent absence of excitotoxicity-induced

neuronal death, the above-mentioned binge intoxication study with adult rats by Hamelink et al. (41) established a clear link between oxidative stress and neurodamage by demonstrating that several antioxidants significantly neuroprotected against the ERC and DGC These butylated neurodegeneration. included hydroxytoluene (BHT), vitamin E, cannabidiol, and furosemide (a diuretic shown by these researchers to be a good antioxidant). Pursuing the view that redox pathways are critical determinants of neurodamage in this binge model, Crews et al. (49) confirmed the neuroprotective effects of BHT. However, this study failed to confirm Hamelink et al. (41) regarding vitamin E neuroprotection in the model: dissimilarities in vitamin E bioavailability due to the different vehicles used was a suggested explanation. Also, for unknown reasons, neither ebselen, a superoxide dismutase mimetic, nor blueberry extract, which has recognized antioxidant effects, was an effective neuroprotectant. Importantly, the Crews et al. report associated binge ethanol damage and its prevention by BHT with a critical redox transcription factor, NFk β (49). Other reports from this laboratory further have linked NFkß to production of pro-neuroinflammatory brain cytokines such as TNF α in binge ethanol exposure and withdrawal (50).

Two additional neuroprotectants in the binge ethanol model in vivo as well as in organotypic rat brain slice cultures are the diuretics, furosemide and acetazolamide (40, 51)-the use of which prevented the modest but still substantial brain edema generated in these models. Furosemide is also an antioxidant, but acetazolamide has negligible antioxidant potential (51); furthermore, the latter diuretic has recently been shown to inhibit aquaporin-4 (52), a major water transporter in astroglia. Aquaporin-4 is upregulated in (and responsible for) cytotoxic brain edema in general and is increased in binge ethanol exposure in vitro (51). Also, in vivo binge ethanol studies show it is significantly increased in adult rat hippocampus (Collins et al., Abst. Soc. Neurosci, 2011). Furthermore, brain edema links with (and is a component of) neuroinflammation in several ways, perhaps the most germane being via activation of PLA2 isoforms and release of ROS-generating AA (53, 54); conversely, ROS are able to promote more brain edema (55). Indeed, aquaporin-4 itself may have an associated proinflammatory role (87). In chronic ethanol models the neuroinflammatory processes indicated by increased ROS, NFkB and proinflammatory cytokines (50) could also be interacting with or dependent on the aforementioned edema-PLA2-AA-ROS cascades; proinflammatory cytokines have been reported to be both upstream (56) and downstream (57, 58) of PLA2 activation, while AA, through ROS, can activate potentially upstream NFkB pathways (59).

Most recently, a study with the binge ethanol intoxication model by Cippitelli *et al.* (60) demonstrated that central activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors (group II mGluR) with LY379268 agonist blocked degeneration of neurons in the ERC, in concert with prevention of deficits in neuroprotective brain TGF-beta and cognitive function. Such protection might appear to

conflict with the interpretation that excitotoxicity is not involved, since the LY agonist has been reported to be protective against NMDA-induced neurotoxicity in vivo (61). However, these authors indicated that LY neuroprotection versus NMDA appears more complicated than suppressing NMDAR overactivation; furthermore, Lee et al. (62) found that activation of group II mGluR protects against ROS (hydrogen peroxide)-induced neurodamage, a consistent with reduction of oxidative fact stress/neuroinflammatory pathways as a component of the neuroprotective action of the LY agonist during binge ethanol intoxication.

6. PERSPECTIVE

Available evidence fails to support excitotoxicity in adult brain as a prominent neurotoxic mechanism promoted by repetitive binge ethanol treatment, and its role in neurodamage acquired in mammalian models using chronic ingestion remains to be unequivocably demonstrated. Rather, there are considerable indications that a cross-communicating array of neuroinflammatory (glial-neuronal) pro-oxidant pathways are initiated by chronic (esp. binge) ethanol exposure and withdrawal(s). An inclusive model or diagram is beyond the scope of this article, but the aspects of neuroinflammation discussed here a basis for further chronic provide ethanol intoxication/withdrawal studies with different mammalian models that result in neurodegeneration and cognitive impairment. Results from such studies could foster translational approaches to minimizing the impact of a "silent epidemic of dementia" (86) putatively incurred worldwide due to chronic alcoholism.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The NIH (UO1 AA018279) and the Loyola University Medical Center Alcohol Research Program (NIH T32 AA013527) is recognized in the preparation of this review. Earlier grants from the NIH (R21AA011543) and the Loyola Research Fund (Potts award) are acknowledged for supporting our *in vivo* studies that are mentioned.

8. REFERENCES

1. G. E. Hardingham: Coupling of the NMDA receptor to neuroprotective and neurodestructive events. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 37(Pt 6), 1147-60 (2009)

2. M. M. Aarts and M. Tymianski: Molecular mechanisms underlying specificity of excitotoxic signaling in neurons. *Current Molecular Medicine*, 4(2), 137-47 (2004)

3. A. S. Hazell and R. F. Butterworth: Update of cell damage mechanisms in thiamine deficiency: focus on oxidative stress, excitotoxicity and inflammation. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 44(2), 141-7 (2009)

4. F. Fonnum and E. A. Lock: The contributions of excitotoxicity, glutathione depletion and DNA repair in chemically induced injury to neurones: exemplified with

toxic effects on cerebellar granule cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 88(3), 513-31 (2004)

5. A. Lau and M. Tymianski: Glutamate receptors, neurotoxicity and neurodegeneration. *Pflugers Archiv* - *European Journal of Physiology*, 460(2), 525-42 (2010)

6. P. L. Carlen, M. P. McAndrews, R. T. Weiss, M. Dongier, J. M. Hill, E. Menzano, K. Farcnik, J. Abarbanel and M. R. Eastwood: Alcohol-related dementia in the institutionalized elderly. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 18(6), 1330-4 (1994)

7. J. Haorah, S. H. Ramirez, N. Floreani, S. Gorantla, B. Morsey and Y. Persidsky: Mechanism of alcohol-induced oxidative stress and neuronal injury. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 45(11), 1542-50 (2008)

8. J. Brown, 3rd, N. Achille, E. J. Neafsey and M. A. Collins: Binge ethanol-induced neurodegeneration in rat organotypic brain slice cultures: effects of PLA2 inhibitor mepacrine and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). *Neurochemical Research*, 34(2), 260-7 (2009)

9. X. M. Ou, C. A. Stockmeier, H. Y. Meltzer, J. C. Overholser, G. J. Jurjus, L. Dieter, K. Chen, D. Lu, C. Johnson, M. B. Youdim, M. C. Austin, J. Luo, A. Sawa, W. May and J. C. Shih: A novel role for glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and monoamine oxidase B cascade in ethanol-induced cellular damage. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(9), 855-63 (2010)

10. R. J. Ward, F. Lallemand and P. de Witte: Biochemical and neurotransmitter changes implicated in alcohol-induced brain damage in chronic or 'binge drinking' alcohol abuse. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 44(2), 128-35 (2009)

 S. Tan, D. Schubert and P. Maher: Oxytosis: A novel form of programmed cell death. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 1(6), 497-506 (2001)
 K. H. McDonough: Antioxidant nutrients and alcohol.

Toxicology, 189(1-2), 89-97 (2003)

13. A. Y. Sun and G. Y. Sun: Ethanol and oxidative mechanisms in the brain. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 8(1), 37-43 (2001)

14. M. Uysal, M. Keyer-Uysal, N. Kocak-Toker and G. Aykac: The effect of chronic ethanol ingestion on brain lipid peroxide and glutathione levels in rats. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 18(1), 73-5 (1986)

15. G. Freund: The effects of chronic alcohol and vitamin E consumption on aging pigments and learning performance in mice. *Life Sciences*, 24(2), 145-51 (1979)

16. C. Guerri and S. Grisolia: Changes in glutathione in acute and chronic alcohol intoxication. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry & Behavior*, 13 Suppl 1, 53-61 (1980)

17. M. A. Tavares and M. M. Paula-Barbosa: Lipofuscin granules in Purkinje cells after long-term alcohol

consumption in rats. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 7(3), 302-6 (1983)

18. M. M. Borges, M. M. Paula-Barbosa and B. Volk: Chronic alcohol consumption induces lipofuscin deposition in the rat hippocampus. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 7(5), 347-55 (1986)

19. M. E. Jung, J. W. Simpkins, A. M. Wilson, H. F. Downey and R. T. Mallet: Intermittent hypoxia conditioning prevents behavioral deficit and brain oxidative stress in ethanol-withdrawn rats. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 105(2), 510-7 (2008)

20. M. Vallett, T. Tabatabaie, R. J. Briscoe, T. J. Baird, W. W. Beatty, R. A. Floyd and D. V. Gauvin: Free radical production during ethanol intoxication, dependence, and withdrawal. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 21(2), 275-85 (1997)

21. T. J. Rump, P. M. Muneer, A. M. Szlachetka, A. Lamb, C. Haorei, S. Alikunju, H. Xiong, J. Keblesh, J. Liu, M. C. Zimmerman, J. Jones, T. M. Donohue, Jr., Y. Persidsky and J. Haorah: Acetyl-L-carnitine protects neuronal function from alcohol-induced oxidative damage in the brain. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 49(10), 1494-504 (2010)

22. T. Jayaraman, S. Kannappan, M. K. Ravichandran and C. V. Anuradha: Impact of Essentiale L on ethanol-induced changes in rat brain and erythrocytes. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 49(4), 320-7 (2008)

23. A. C. Cohen, M. Tong, J. R. Wands and S. M. de la Monte: Insulin and insulin-like growth factor resistance with neurodegeneration in an adult chronic ethanol exposure model. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 31(9), 1558-73 (2007)

24. A. Simonyi, Y. He, W. Sheng, A. Y. Sun, W. G. Wood, G. A. Weisman and G. Y. Sun: Targeting NADPH oxidase and phospholipases A2 in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 41(2-3), 73-86 (2010)

25. D. M. Lovinger: Excitotoxicity and alcohol-related brain damage. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 17(1), 19-27 (1993)

26. G. Tsai, D. R. Gastfriend and J. T. Coyle: The glutamatergic basis of human alcoholism. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 152(3), 332-40 (1995)

27. G. Tsai and J. T. Coyle: The role of glutamatergic neurotransmission in the pathophysiology of alcoholism. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 49, 173-84 (1998)

28. M. A. Prendergast, B. R. Harris, P. J. Mullholland, J. A. Blanchard, 2nd, D. A. Gibson, R. C. Holley and J. M. Littleton: Hippocampal CA1 region neurodegeneration produced by ethanol withdrawal requires activation of intrinsic polysynaptic hippocampal pathways and function of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Neuroscience*, 124(4), 869-77 (2004)

29. T. D. Stepanyan, J. M. Farook, A. Kowalski, E. Kaplan, S. Barron and J. M. Littleton: Alcohol withdrawal-induced hippocampal neurotoxicity in vitro and seizures in vivo are both reduced by memantine. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 32(12), 2128-35 (2008)

30. P. L. Hoffman: Glutamate receptors in alcohol withdrawal-induced neurotoxicity. *Metabolic Brain Disease*, 10(1), 73-9 (1995)

31. R. Pawlak, J. P. Melchor, T. Matys, A. E. Skrzypiec and S. Strickland: Ethanol-withdrawal seizures are controlled by tissue plasminogen activator via modulation of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(2), 443-8 (2005)

32. S. C. Bondy and S. X. Guo: Regional selectivity in ethanol-induced pro-oxidant events within the brain. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 49(1), 69-72 (1995)

33. E. Majchrowicz: Induction of physical dependence upon ethanol and the associated behavioral changes in rats. *Psychopharmacologia*, 43(3), 245-54 (1975)

34. R. C. Switzer, E. Majchrowicz and F. Weight: Ethanolinduced argyrophilia in entorhinal cortex of rat. *Anatomical Record*, 202, 186A (1982)

35. E. J. Neafsey, M. H. A. Mostafa and M. A. Collins: MK801 fails to block ethanol induced cortical damage in rats. *Transactions of the American Society of Neurochemistry*, 20, 109 (1989)

36. M. A. Collins, T. D. Corso and E. J. Neafsey: Neuronal degeneration in rat cerebrocortical and olfactory regions during subchronic "binge" intoxication with ethanol: possible explanation for olfactory deficits in alcoholics. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 20(2), 284-92 (1996)

37. J. A. Obernier, A. M. White, H. S. Swartzwelder and F. T. Crews: Cognitive deficits and CNS damage after a 4-day binge ethanol exposure in rats. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry & Behavior*, 72(3), 521-32 (2002)

38. T. D. Corso, H. M. Mostafa, M. A. Collins and E. J. Neafsey: Brain neuronal degeneration caused by episodic alcohol intoxication in rats: effects of nimodipine, 6,7-dinitro-quinoxaline-2,3-dione, and MK-801. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 22(1), 217-24 (1998)

39. J. Y. Zou, D. B. Martinez, E. J. Neafsey and M. A. Collins: Binge ethanol-induced brain damage in rats: effect of inhibitors of nitric oxide synthase. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 20(8), 1406-11 (1996)

40. M. A. Collins, J. Y. Zou and E. J. Neafsey: Brain damage due to episodic alcohol exposure in vivo and in vitro: furosemide neuroprotection implicates edema-based mechanism. *FASEB Journal*, 12(2), 221-30 (1998)

41. C. Hamelink, A. Hampson, D. A. Wink, L. E. Eiden and R. L. Eskay: Comparison of cannabidiol, antioxidants,

and diuretics in reversing binge ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. *Journal of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics*, 314(2), 780-8 (2005)

42. M. Seki and S. A. Lipton: Targeting excitotoxic/free radical signaling pathways for therapeutic intervention in glaucoma. *Progress in Brain Research*, 173, 495-510 (2008)

43. N. V. Lukoyanov and M. M. Paula-Barbosa: Memantine, but not dizocilpine, ameliorates cognitive deficits in adult rats withdrawn from chronic ingestion of alcohol. *Neuroscience Letters*, 309(1), 45-8 (2001)

44. S. R. Bhupanapadu Sunkesula, U. Swain and P. P. Babu: Cell death is associated with reduced base excision repair during chronic alcohol administration in adult rat brain. *Neurochemical Research*, 33(6), 1117-28 (2008)

45. J. G. Rudolph, D. W. Walker, Y. Iimuro, R. G. Thurman and F. T. Crews: NMDA receptor binding in adult rat brain after several chronic ethanol treatment protocols. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 21(8), 1508-19 (1997)

46. R. L. French and U. Heberlein: Glycogen synthase kinase-3/Shaggy mediates ethanol-induced excitotoxic cell death of Drosophila olfactory neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(49), 20924-9 (2009)

47. J. A. Obernier, T. W. Bouldin and F. T. Crews: Binge ethanol exposure in adult rats causes necrotic cell death. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 26(4), 547-57 (2002)

48. S. Orrenius, P. Nicotera and B. Zhivotovsky: Cell death mechanisms and their implications in toxicology. *Toxicological Sciences*, 119(1), 3-19 (2011)

49. F. Crews, K. Nixon, D. Kim, J. Joseph, B. Shukitt-Hale, L. Qin and J. Zou: BHT blocks NF-kappaB activation and ethanol-induced brain damage. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 30(11), 1938-49 (2006)

50. F. T. Crews and K. Nixon: Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and regeneration in alcoholism. *Alcohol Alcoholism*, 44(2), 115-27 (2009)

51. K. Sripathirathan, J. Brown, E. J. Neafsey and M. A. Collins: Linking binge alcohol-induced neurodamage to brain edema and potential aquaporin-4 upregulation: evidence in rat organotypic brain slice cultures and in vivo. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 26(2), 261-73 (2009)

52. V. J. Huber, M. Tsujita, M. Yamazaki, K. Sakimura and T. Nakada: Identification of arylsulfonamides as Aquaporin 4 inhibitors. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 17(5), 1270-3 (2007)

53. S. Basavappa, S. F. Pedersen, N. K. Jorgensen, J. C. Ellory and E. K. Hoffmann: Swelling-induced arachidonic acid release via the 85-kDa cPLA2 in human

neuroblastoma cells. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 79(3), 1441-9 (1998)

54. I. H. Lambert, S. F. Pedersen and K. A. Poulsen: Activation of PLA2 isoforms by cell swelling and ischaemia/hypoxia. *Acta Physiologica*, 187(1-2), 75-85 (2006)

55. J. H. Heo, S. W. Han and S. K. Lee: Free radicals as triggers of brain edema formation after stroke. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 39(1), 51-70 (2005)

56. R. M. Adibhatla and J. F. Hatcher: Secretory phospholipase A2 IIA is up-regulated by TNF-alpha and IL-1alpha/beta after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rat. *Brain Research*, 1134(1), 199-205 (2007)

57. C. Lee, D. W. Park, J. Lee, T. I. Lee, Y. J. Kim, Y. S. Lee and S. H. Baek: Secretory phospholipase A2 induces apoptosis through TNF-alpha and cytochrome c-mediated caspase cascade in murine macrophage RAW 264.7 cells. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 536(1-2), 47-53 (2006)

58. A. A. van Puijenbroek, S. Wissink, P. T. van der Saag and M. P. Peppelenbosch: Phospholipase A2 inhibitors and leukotriene synthesis inhibitors block TNF-induced NFkappaB activation. *Cytokine*, 11(2), 104-10 (1999)

59. C. Maziere, M. A. Conte, J. Degonville, D. Ali and J. C. Maziere: Cellular enrichment with polyunsaturated fatty acids induces an oxidative stress and activates the transcription factors AP1 and NFkappaB. *Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications*, 265(1), 116-22 (1999)

60. A. Cippitelli, R. Damadzic, K. Frankola, A. Goldstein, A. Thorsell, E. Singley, R. L. Eskay and M. Heilig: Alcohol-induced neurodegeneration, suppression of transforming growth factor-beta, and cognitive impairment in rats: prevention by group II metabotropic glutamate receptor activation. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(9), 823-30 (2010)

61. M. D'Onofrio, L. Cuomo, G. Battaglia, R. T. Ngomba, M. Storto, A. E. Kingston, F. Orzi, A. De Blasi, P. Di Iorio, F. Nicoletti and V. Bruno: Neuroprotection mediated by glial group-II metabotropic glutamate receptors requires the activation of the MAP kinase and the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase pathways. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 78(3), 435-45 (2001)

62. H. G. Lee, X. Zhu, G. Casadesus, M. Pallas, A. Camins, M. J. O'Neill, S. Nakanishi, G. Perry and M. A. Smith: The effect of mGluR2 activation on signal transduction pathways and neuronal cell survival. *Brain Research*, 1249, 244-50 (2009)

63. M. M. Paula-Barbosa, F. Brandao, M. C. Pinho, J. P. Andrade, M. D. Madeira and A. Cadete-Leite: The effects of piracetam on lipofuscin of the rat cerebellar and hippocampal neurons after long-term alcohol treatment and

withdrawal: a quantitative study. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 15(5), 834-8 (1991)

64. C. Montoliu, S. Valles, J. Renau-Piqueras and C. Guerri: Ethanol-induced oxygen radical formation and lipid peroxidation in rat brain: effect of chronic alcohol consumption. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 63(5), 1855-62 (1994)

65. M. Renis, V. Calabrese, A. Russo, A. Calderone, M. L. Barcellona and V. Rizza: Nuclear DNA strand breaks during ethanol-induced oxidative stress in rat brain. *FEBS Letters*, 390(2), 153-6 (1996)

66. H. Rouach, P. Houze, M. Gentil, M. T. Orfanelli and R. Nordmann: Changes in some pro- and antioxidants in rat cerebellum after chronic alcohol intake. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 53(4), 539-45 (1997)

67. V. Rajakrishnan, P. Viswanathan, K. N. Rajasekharan and V. P. Menon: Neuroprotective role of curcumin from curcuma longa on ethanol-induced brain damage. *Phytotherapy Research*, 13(7), 571-4 (1999)

68. V. Calabrese, G. Scapagnini, S. Latteri, C. Colombrita, A. Ravagna, C. Catalano, G. Pennisi, M. Calvani and D. A. Butterfield: Long-term ethanol administration enhances age-dependent modulation of redox state in different brain regions in the rat: protection by acetyl carnitine. *International Journal of Tissue Reactions*, 24(3), 97-104 (2002)

69. A. Simonyi, D. Woods, A. Y. Sun and G. Y. Sun: Grape polyphenols inhibit chronic ethanol-induced COX-2 mRNA expression in rat brain. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 26(3), 352-7 (2002)

70. E. Agar, S. Demir, R. Amanvermez, M. Bosnak, M. Ayyildiz and C. Celik: The effects of ethanol consumption on the lipid peroxidation and glutathione levels in the right and left brains of rats. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 113(12), 1643-52 (2003)

71. A. Singh, P. S. Naidu and S. K. Kulkarni: Reversal of aging and chronic ethanol-induced cognitive dysfunction by quercetin a bioflavonoid. *Free Radical Research*, 37(11), 1245-52 (2003)

72. G. Pushpakiran, K. Mahalakshmi and C. V. Anuradha: Taurine restores ethanol-induced depletion of antioxidants and attenuates oxidative stress in rat tissues. *Amino Acids*, 27(1), 91-6 (2004)

73. S. L. Valles, A. M. Blanco, M. Pascual and C. Guerri: Chronic ethanol treatment enhances inflammatory mediators and cell death in the brain and in astrocytes. *Brain Pathology*, 14(4), 365-71 (2004)

74. M. E. Jung, M. Rewal, E. Perez, Y. Wen and J. W. Simpkins: Estrogen protects against brain lipid

peroxidation in ethanol-withdrawn rats. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry & Behavior*, 79(3), 573-86 (2004)

75. V. de Freitas, P. da Silva Porto, M. Assuncao, A. Cadete-Leite, J. P. Andrade and M. M. Paula-Barbosa: Flavonoids from grape seeds prevent increased alcoholinduced neuronal lipofuscin formation. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 39(4), 303-11 (2004)

76. G. Baydas and M. Tuzcu: Protective effects of melatonin against ethanol-induced reactive gliosis in hippocampus and cortex of young and aged rats. *Experimental Neurology*, 194(1), 175-81 (2005)

77. E. Skrzydlewska, A. Augustyniak, K. Michalak and R. Farbiszewski: Green tea supplementation in rats of different ages mitigates ethanol-induced changes in brain antioxidant abilities. *Alcohol*, 37(2), 89-98 (2005)

78. M. Y. Covarrubias, R. L. Khan, R. Vadigepalli, J. B. Hoek and J. S. Schwaber: Chronic alcohol exposure alters transcription broadly in a key integrative brain nucleus for homeostasis: the nucleus tractus solitarius. *Physiological Genomics*, 24(1), 45-58 (2005)

79. R. Amanvermez and E. Agara: Does ascorbate/L-Cys/L-Met mixture protect different parts of the rat brain against chronic alcohol toxicity? *Advances in Therapy*, 23(5), 705-18 (2006)

80. A. Kasdallah-Grissa, B. Mornagui, E. Aouani, M. Hammami, N. Gharbi, A. Kamoun and S. El-Fazaa: Protective effect of resveratrol on ethanol-induced lipid peroxidation in rats. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 41(3), 236-9 (2006)

81. S. Johnsen-Soriano, F. Bosch-Morell, M. Miranda, S. Asensio, J. M. Barcia, J. Roma, P. Monfort, V. Felipo and F. J. Romero: Ebselen prevents chronic alcohol-induced rat hippocampal stress and functional impairment. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 31(3), 486-92 (2007)

82. J. Kaur and M. P. Bansal: Effect of vitamin E on alcohol-induced changes in oxidative stress and expression of transcription factors NFkappaB and AP-1 in mice brain cerebral hemispheres. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, 46(8), 562-7 (2008)

83. V. Tiwari, A. Kuhad and K. Chopra: Suppression of neuro-inflammatory signaling cascade by tocotrienol can prevent chronic alcohol-induced cognitive dysfunction in rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 203(2), 296-303 (2009)

84. U. Ozel Turkcu, A. Bilgihan, G. Biberoglu and O. Mertoglu Caglar: Carnosine supplementation protects rat brain tissue against ethanol-induced oxidative stress. *Molecular & Cellular Biochemistry*, 339(1-2), 55-61 (2010)

85. S. Alfonso-Loeches, M. Pascual-Lucas, A. M. Blanco, I. Sanchez-Vera and C. Guerri: Pivotal role of TLR4 receptors in alcohol-induced neuroinflammation and brain damage. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(24), 8285-95 (2010) 86. S. Gupta and J. Warner: Alcohol-related dementia: a 21st-century silent epidemic? *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 193(5), 351-3 (2008)

87. L. Lihua, H. Zhang, M. Varrin-Doyer, S.S. Zamvil and A.S. Verkman: Proinflammatory role of aquaporin-4 in autoimmune neuroinflammation. *FASEB Journal*, 25(5), 1556-66 (2011)

Key Words: Alcohol, NMDA Antagonist, Reactive Oxygen Species, Brain Damage, Neuroinflammation, Edema

Send correspondence to: Michael A. Collins, Department of Molecular Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Loyola University Stritch School of Medicine, 2160 S. First Avenue, Maywood IL 60153 USA. Tel: 708-216-4560. Fax: 708-216-6289. E-mail: mcollin@lumc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol4E.htm